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H I S T O R Y  

Name:  Bee Hive Stores 

   Beehive Stores 

Location:  Grant Street, Alexandra 

Established: Circa 28 May 1869 

The Beehive Store was a sales business 

located in Grant Street Alexandra, that ran 

from two different locations during its early 

years. It was initially owned by businessman 

George Jobson. 

The 'Beehive Stores' (or 'Bee Hive Stores' as it was originally advertised as in 

Alexandra) is a name synonymous with the early township. Though it is also 

synonymous with other towns in Australia and even abroad - where the name was 

commonly used. Locally, the original Alexandra Bee Hive Stores was first advertised at 

a different location to the current National Australia Bank site, where many people will 

remember it being.  
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Beehive Store. 
Courtesy Wayne & Jo Miller. 
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On 28 May 1869 George Jobson first advertised his 'Bee Hive Store' business in the 

Alexandra Standard. He was in business earlier than that however, as on 28 January 1869 

Jobson took action in the Alexandra Police Court against Messrs. Hamea and Ashbee 

presumably - for failing to pay an account. The matter was subsequently withdrawn by 

Jobson, suggesting the debt was paid or forgiven. 

 

Then in October 1871, the advertisements in the Alexandra & Yea Standard changed to 

show that the business was now operated by 'George Jobson & Co' (no longer just 

'George Jobson'). At this time the business was being advertised as ‘Bee Hive’ not 

"Beehive" and advertisements tell s that Jobson & Co. was in a partnership with Robert 

Lloyd, a partnership that was later dissolved by May 1873. 

  

The first Bee Hive store was not located on the site next to the Corner hotel (later known 

as the Commercial Hotel). At the time of the devastating Grant Street Fire in November 

1872, it was reported in the Alexandra Standard that the fire ran from Hamea’s Corner 

Hotel, through the public library (formerly Vining’s Australia Hotel), the Union Bank, 
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Thomas Hall’s general store, Buggy’s 

Harp of Erin Hotel, Jack Levy’s 

Montezuma Hotel, a saddlery, butcher’s 

shop and several cottages. According to 

the Standard, it was then halted at the 

northern brick wall of Jobson’s store. 

  

Jobson owned the land and buildings on 

which the Public Library was operated by 

Mr Moon. The same building also housed 

Mr Raphael’s auction rooms, and Mr 

Branch’s mining office. Neither Jobson 

nor Moon were insured on that site as 

became evident after the Grant Street fire. 

During 1873 Jobson built a new brick 

building on that land (next to the Corner 

Hotel, which was also re-erected in brick 

following the fire). 

 

Throughout 1873 and into early 1874 Jobson advertised Clearing Sales to presumably 

reduce his stock before moving into his newly constructed building. (As mentioned 

above, the Jobson/Lloyds partnership had already collapsed around May 1873). The 

building itself was completed (or substantially so) by December 1873, as the Corner 

Hotel used it for it’s Christmas Season Ball & Dinner and in June 1874 the building was 

used by the Hospital for a fund-raising ball. This likely indicates that Jobson had not 

moved into his new building at this time. He was continuing to advertise the 'Bee Hive' 

business, suggesting he was still trading from his original building. As is evident from 

advertisements, on Saturday 26 September 1874 John Cronin took over the business and 

begun trading in the new location. Cronin had previously operated a store on the opposite 

side of Grant Street, close to the UT Creek, which was itself destroyed by fire shortly 

prior to him purchasing Jobson’s new Beehive building. 

 

In building the new premises, Jobson had run into financial difficulties and had been 

declared insolvent. Eventually though, he returned to Alexandra after a short period, as 

the licensee of the Belle Vue Hotel at Johnson’s Creek and also opened a general store 

near where the Shire Hall is today. 
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On 17 August 1877, James Leckie purchased the Beehive building and business from 

John Cronin and ran it in the same manner as Cronin. It is stated in the Alexandra & Yea 

Standard 18 August 1877 that John Cronin "would hereby tender his thanks to his 

numerous supporters for the last ten years, and hopes that they will give his successor a 

fair share of their patronage in the future". An article much later in the Alexandra & Yea 

Standard (December 1901) stated how the business was known as 'Leckie's'. 

 

In the Alexandra & Yea Standard 21 December 1900, an article advises that the Beehive 

Store was now run by Mr. Ellis. It describes the stores collections of goods as including 

"drapery, groceries and wines and spirits... The drapery department contains some lovely 

dress materials, Manchester goods of sterling quality, fancy goods, lace goods of 

exquisite beauty, gloves, ribbons, new hosiery, clothing &c., while the groceries and 

tinned goods kept are fresh and of the very best quality, and marked at bedrock prices.". 

 

In December 1901 an article in the Alexandra & Yea Standard titled 'Around the Shops' 

describes how before Mr. Ellis had the Beehive and that it was known as 'Leckies', 

(confirming that the Leckie family ran the business for a period of time). 

 

In the Alexandra & Yea Standard 14 February 1908, Mr E. White advertised that he had 

purchased the Beehive Stores business from Mr E. White. He then started advertising the 

business under his name. 

 

Robert Jackson Briggs had taken over the business by 1914 and operated it successfully 

until a post-war downturn in patronage and other business pressures resulted in him 

taking on two partners (Fred Marden and Bill Hurrey). The business arrangements meant 

that Mr. Briggs was largely left to run his side of the business (in the right side of the 

building) and the Marsden's ran their side of the business (in the left side of the building) 

A doorway in the wall between the two shops allowed for customers to navigate a few 

stops to move from the Brigg's side down to the Marsden's side of the business. Under 

the new partnership arrangement Mr Hurray concentrated on the grocery side of the 

business and mostly took over the shop's office. This new partnership also afforded Mr. 

Briggs time to focus on family and his other local interests. In 1954 the partners 

redesigned the front of the Beehive Stores building - giving it a newer and more modern 

facade. 

 

On 3 March 1960, Robert Briggs died. After his death the partners consolidated the 
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business. In September 1959 Bill Hurray became ill and his ability to operate effectively 

in the partnership came to an end. The Marden's then took over the business effective 

1 July 1960 and the Hurray's retired to Melbourne that same year. 

 

On 30 November 1969, a two page brochure written by Joan Marden was included with 

every issue of the Alexandra & Yea Standard sold that week. The brochure covered the 

early years of Alexandra and gave a history of the Beehive Stores past. Thanks to the 

benefits of universal access to early newspapers via the National Library of Australia, we 

have been able to build upon this lovely historic record even further. 

 

Fred Marden died in 1971 and his wife Joan sold the grocery and liquor side of the 

business the same year to the  Partnership of 'Werner Witte and Lindsay Coate'. Joan 

Marden, her daughter Jenny and son-in-law Ian Napier then relocated the drapery side of 

the business to 99 Grant Street (later purchased by Bev Dunn in 1977 and became known 

as the 'Shoppe'). The Shoppe was located first at 99 Grant Street, then 76 Grant Street, 

then 106 Grant Street. Joan Marden later moved to Melbourne where she later remarried 

an importer of fine linen. 

 

In 1973 Norm and Margot Reddrop purchased the business and leasehold from 'Werner 

Witte and Lindsay Coate' and commenced public trading on 5 February 1973. They took 

the business in a different direction by moving away form the general store/part 

supermarket model the business had been built on since the 1800s, instead moving to a 

dedicated supermarket format.  

 

In 1987, after several unsuccessful attempts to purchase the freehold of the Beehive 

Stores, Norm and Margot gave up and purchased the former 'G.E. Courtney Motors' 

garage located on the opposite side of Grant street and further south (102 Grant Street). 

This building was larger, offered greater opportunity for expansion and had better and 

flatter rear access for trucks and delivery vans. 

 

'Werner Witte and Lindsay Coate' sold the leasehold of the store to the National Australia 

Bank (NAB). However the freehold is still held as of 2019 by a descendant of Robert 

Briggs—Mrs Marjory Wallis. Previous to this, the NAB Bank had been located further 

north (on the same side of Grant Street) in the old double storey brick building on the 

corner of Downey and Grant Streets. Upon gaining occupancy, the NAB renovated the 

Beehive building and they have occupied the building since. 
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On the 15 December 2015 the Alexandra branch of the ANZ Bank (located further south 

and on the same side of the street as the Beehive Stores building) closed their door. As 

the banking industry continues to change, it is possible that other banks in Alexandra may 

follow suit and close their doors. However, at the time of the writing, there is no 

indication that the National Australia Bank has any plans of closing its Alexandra branch 

- located in the former Beehive Stores building. 
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28 January 1869 Mr Jobson took action in the Alexandra Police Court against 

Messrs. Hamea and Ashbee (presumably for a failure to pay 

a bill). The matter was withdrawn. 

 

28 May 1869  The first advertisement for the Beehive store appeared in the 

Alexandra Times under the ownership of George Jobson. 

 

 October 1871 Advertisements now carried the ‘& Co’ label on Beehive 

advertisements in the Alexandra Standard as Jobson has 

entered into a partnership with Robert Lloyd. 

 

 November 1872 The Grant Street Fire was halted at Jobson's original store. 

 

April 1873 The partnership with Robert Lloyd was dissolved. This was 

advertised in the Alexandra Times and mention made of 

moving to the new property beside the Corner Hotel. 

 

1873 Jobson built a new building on land he owned and where the 

Public Library previously stood before the Grant Street fire 

gutted it. He ran clearing sales advertisements in the 

Alexandra Standard for the contents of the shop he was 

moving out of. 

 

December 1873 The Corner Hotel used the new building for a Christmas Ball 

and Dinner event, suggesting Jobson had not moved into it at 

this time. 

 

June 1874 The new building was used by the Hospital for a fund-raising 

ball, suggesting Jobson had not moved into it at this time. He 

was however continuing to advertise the Beehive Store 

business at this time, suggesting he was still operating from 

his other premises. 

 

26 September 1874 John Cronin tool over the Beehive Store business in the new 

building and commenced operations Saturday 26 September 

1874. 
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17 August 1877 James Leckie purchased the business from John Cronin in 

the building known as the Beehive Stores. His store was 

called 'Leckie's'. 

 

21 December 1900 The Beehive Stores business was being run by Mr Ellis. 

 

20 December 1901 Leckie's mentioned in the Alexandra Standard  as the former 

owners of the Beehive Stores in an advert published by Ellis. 

 

14 February 1908 A notice in the Alexandra Standard for Mr E. White advised 

the local community that he had purchased the Beehive 

Stores business from Mr Ellis. 

 

April 1909 The earliest advertisement for 'White' was published in the 

Alexandra Standard.  

 

April 1914 By April 1914, Robert Briggs (a New Zealand born 

businessman) had taken over the Beehive Stores business 

according to advertisements in the Alexandra Standard. 

 

26 June 1934 Thieves unsuccessfully tried to break into the Beehive 

Stores. They gave up when confronted with the electrical 

alarm wires. 

 

1946 Robert J. Briggs entered into partnership with Fred Marden 

and Bill Hurrey.  

 

3 March 1960 Robert J. Briggs died. 

 

1 July 1960 Fred & Joan Marden purchased the business from other 

partners (four months after the death of R. J. Briggs). 

 

30 November 1967 A two page brochure written by Joan Marden was included 

with every issue of the Alexandra Standard sold that week. 

The brochure covered the early years of Alexandra and gave 
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a history of the Beehive Stores past. Thanks to the benefits of 

universal access to early newspapers via the National Library 

of Australia, we now know that elements of the history are 

incorrect, however at the time it was widely received and has 

an important place in the history of the Beehive stores. 

 

1971 Fred Marden died and his wife Joan sold the grocery and 

liquor side of the business to the partnership of 'Werner Witte 

and Lindsay Coate'. 

 

1971 Joan Marden, her daughter Jenny and son-in-law Ian Napier 

relocated the drapery side of the business to 99 Grant Street 

(later purchased by Bev Dunn in 1977 and became known as 

the 'Shoppe'). The Shoppe was located first at 99 Grant 

Street, then 76 Grant Street, then 106 Grant Street. 

 

1973 The partnership of 'Werner Witte and Lindsay Coate' sold the 

business and leasehold to Norm & Margot Redrop who 

converted the business into a supermarket. 

 

Unknown Joan moved to Melbourne and married a linen importer. 

 

1987 Norm and Margot Reddrop purchased 102 Grant Street (the 

former 'G.E. Courtney Motors' located on the western side of 

Grant Street) and set up as a supermarket, which runs to this 

day. 

 

Unknown The partnership of 'Werner Witte and Lindsay Coate' sold the 

Beehive Stores business to the National Australia Bank 

(NAB). The freehold is still held by a descendant of Robert 

Briggs. 

 

20 January 2016 Artworks commenced work on this factsheet. 
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November 1872 Grant Street Fire was stopped at the bluestone wall of Jobson's old store further up 

Grant Street. The wooden structure previously located on the current Beehive site was destroyed. 

George Jobson 
In business as Bee Hive Stores (in different location) from May 1869. 

John Cronin 
26 September 1874 - 17 August 1877 

James Leckie 
17 August 1877 - 1900 

Mr. Ellis 
1900 - 14 February 1908 

E. White 
14 February 1908 - April 1914 

Robert J. Briggs 
April 1914 - 1946  

Partnership: Robert J. Briggs, Fred Marden, Bill Hurrey 
1946 - 3 March 1960 (death of J. J. Briggs). 

Fred and Joan Marden 
1 July 1960 - 1971 (Death of Fred Marden) 

Partnership: Werner Witte and Lindsay Coate 
1971 - mid 1990s (later sold business to National Australia Bank) 

Norm & Margot Reddrop (Business & Leasehold only) 
5 February 1973 - 1987 (No longer know as 'Beehive Stores') 

National Australia Bank 
unknown - Present (No longer know as 'Beehive Stores') 
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George Jobson was the first proprietor of the Beehive Stores 
 

Courtesy Fred Ford 2019 
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The Beehive Store circa 1909, not long after 

he purchased the business. 

 

E. White (left). 

 
Courtesy 2010 Wayne & Jo Miller. 

G A L L E R Y  



Historic 

Factsheet 

Page 15 Page 15 

The Beehive Store circa 1914. 

 

The phone number was '17'. 

 
Courtesy Murrindindi Library Services 2013. 
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Grant Street, Alexandra 3 March 1924. 
 

Courtesy Alexandra RSL 2015. 
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The Soldiers Memorial circa 1930. 
 

Courtesy State Library Victoria 2014. 
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Grant Street, Alexandra circa 1930. 
 

Courtesy Leisa Lees 2013 
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Grant Street, Alexandra circa 1935. 
 

Photograph courtesy 2010 Jeanie Webb 
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Grant Street, Alexandra circa 1935. 
 

Courtesy John & Maureen Norbury.  
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Alexandra Shopping Centre circa 1940. 
 

Photograph courtesy 2010 The Herald Weekly Times and  Julie Howard-Schachner 
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Grant Street, Alexandra circa 1945. 
 

Courtesy Murrindindi Library Services & State Library Victoria 
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The Beehive Store circa 1945. 

 
Courtesy Kelly Petersen & David & Debbie Hibbert 2015. 
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Murray Views photograph of Grant Street, Alexandra circa 1945. 

 
Courtesy Kelly Petersen & David Hibbert 2013 

Purchased on eBay July 2013. 
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Former second 'Beehive Stores' building (37-39 Grant Street, Alexandra) February 2016. 
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https://www.google.com.au/maps/place/37%C2%B011'31.1%22S+145%C2%B042'35.7%22E/@-37.1919609,145.7093768,19z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m2!3m1!1s0x0:0x0?hl=en
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First Bee Hive Stores Advertisement. 

 
Alexandra Times, 28 May 1869. 

Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/59795338/5895940
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Bee Hive Stores Advertisement. 

 
Alexandra Times, 18 June 1869. 

Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/59795381
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Partnership between Jobson and R.E. Todd was dissolved around May 1873  and a 

clearing sale being held before moving to new building beside the Corner Hotel. 
 

Alexandra Times, Saturday 10 May 1873.     Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 

Page 28 

http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/58214066
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Mr. Cronin commencing his 

new store 26 September 1874. 

The Athenaeum Hall 

described in detail. 

 
Alexandra Times. 

Saturday 26 September 1874. 

Courtesy National Library Australia. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/58215173
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John Cronin sells business to James Leckie 17 August 1877. 

 
Alexandra & Yea Standard, 18 August 1877. 

Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/57047167
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Mr Ellis running Beehive Stores by December 1900. 

 
Alexandra & Yea Standard, 21 December 1900. 

Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/57501753
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Leckie's mentioned as former owners of the Beehive Stores. 

 
Alexandra & Yea Standard, 21 December 1901. 

Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/57646533
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Beehive Stores sold to Mr E. White February 1908. 

 
Alexandra & Yea Standard, 14 February 1908. 

Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/59589861
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Bee Hive Stores Advertisement. 

 
The Argus, 26 June 1934. 

Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/10950155
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Beehive Stores advertisement 

 
Alexandra & Yea Standard 

Friday 24 June 1949 

Courtesy National Library Australia 2016. 
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http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/61194649/6151105
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Beehive Stores 1970 advertisement 

 
Alexandra & Yea Standard 

Thursday 17 September 1970 

Courtesy Geoff Hayes 2012 
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Cumming Culhane & Co. PTY LTD Permewan Food Stores Advertisement 1971. Permewans 

operated at 96 Grant Street and were in competition to Reddrops Supermarket then 

operating out of the Beehive Stores building. 
 

Alexandra & Yea Standard, 11 February 1971.     Courtesy Geoff Hayes 2013. 

http://gazette.slv.vic.gov.au/images/1957/V/general/202.pdf
http://gazette.slv.vic.gov.au/images/1957/V/general/202.pdf
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Reddrop's Supa-Valu Supermarket advertisement. 

 
Alexandra & Yea Standard, 11 August 1976. 

Courtesy Geoff Hayes 2013. 
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Reddrop's Rite-way Supermarket 

advertisement. 

 
Alexandra & Yea Standard. 

Wednesday 26 October 1983. 

Courtesy Geoff Hayes 2013. 
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